### **RECEIVED**

#### 04-10-2012 STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

**OF WISCONSIN** 

Case No. 2012AP000186 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL K. ROGERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WOOD COUNTY THE HONORABLE TODD P. WOLF PRESIDING

> **BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

Patricia A. FitzGerald State Bar Number 1015179 229 North Grove Street Mt. Horeb, WI 53572

(608) 437-4859 Attorney for Daniel K. Rogers

###

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

I. Did the trial court erroneously exercise its discretion in admitting other crimes evidence?

The trial court by implication answered: No.

# POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The briefs of the parties should fully present the issues on appeal and develop the relevant theories and

legal authorities. Therefore, the defendant-appellant does not believe oral argument is necessary.

Publication is not requested.

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

March 4, 2010, Complaint filed charging Rogers with one count of second degree sexual assault(2).

April 19, 2010, Preliminary hearing held wherein Rogers was bound over for trial.(29: 17).

April 19, 2010, Information filed charging Rogers with one count of second degree sexual assault.(5).

April 19, 2010, Rogers arraigned and entered a plea of not guilty.(29:17).

September 28, 2010, The state moves for joinder or in the alternative to introduce other acts evidence.(14).

October 13, 2010, Court allowed other act evidence.(33:6).

December 15, 2010, Jury trial held wherein Rogers was found guilty.(34:222;18).

February 17, 2011, Rogers was sentenced to nine years confinement and eight years extended supervision.(35:31;24).

January 23, 2012, a notice of appeal was filed.(27).

#### **FACTS**

The state alleged that Daniel Rogers sexually assaulted his live in girlfriend, Andrea DeVries, by use of threat of force or violence on February 25, 2010.(5).

Before trial, the state moved the court to join this case with two other cases that were pending against Rogers or in the alternative to allow other acts evidence.(13). One of those cases, Wood County case number 10 CF 239, alleged Rogers choked Andrea DeVries on June 15, 2010, resulting in felony strangulation and suffocation and felony bail jumping charges against Rogers.(Id.)

The defense opposed both motions.(14). The trial court denied the state's motion to join the various cases, but did grant the state's motion to allow testimony that Rogers choked DeVries in June, 2010.(33:3,6).

In arguing for other acts evidence the state said,

...the State moves in the alternative to introduce evidence of other acts, that being to allow the information contained in the other cases to show the Defendant's motive, that his intent, plan or absence of mistake or accident in that the Defendant perpetrated these acts all on the same victim, intimidating the victim, subjecting that victim to abuse and violating the conditions of his bond in prior cases.

(31:3).

When asked by the court if the state wanted to argue anything as for as the *Sullivan* analysis., the prosecutor said only,

I don't believe that it unduly prejudices the Defendant, that this - - these are not surprises, that the facts are - - that the balancing act, that this does not

(Id).

To reach its conclusion the trial court invoked the **Sullivan**<sup>1</sup> analysis. The court held that using strangulation as a method Rogers uses to get DeVries to submit is an acceptable purpose. (33:4). The court further found that the strangulation evidence was relevant to show intentional force.(Id.)

> ...and the victim is indicating a very common pattern or scheme that is used by the Defendant to show his intent, and that is that he would get her to submit while one crime (sic) and the other one submit on the sexual intercourse, grabbing her by the throat and indicating that is how he is going to get her to submit.

(Id.).

Finally, under the **Sullivan** analysis, the court held that any danger of prejudice could be overcome by a cautionary instruction.(Id. 5).

At trial, Rogers stipulated to the fact that he and DeVries had intercourse on February 25, 2010,(34:7-9), but claimed that it was consensual. (Rogers 34: 158).

DeVries and Rogers agreed that they had been living together for several months and that their onagain-off-again relationship had produced two children.(DeVries 34:65, 66, 78; Rogers 34: 146,147).

For a couple of weeks before February 24th, they had been having relationship problems. (DeVries 34:81; Rogers 34: 148) On February 24, 2010, they argued about whether Rogers had been cheating on DeVries

State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis.2d 768, 576 N.W.2d 30(1998).

with Kaitlin, a mutual friend.(DeVried 34: 80 Rogers 34: 150). DeVries left their apartment and went to her friend Amanda's house.(DeVries34: 65; Rogers 34: 151)<sup>2</sup>. She returned about 11:00 p.m.(DeVries 34:65; Rogers 34:151).

DeVries was going to sleep on the couch. (DeVries34:66; Rogers 34:156) Rogers was in the bedroom and, according to DeVries, she was in the hallway smoking a cigarette when the two started texting each other.(DeVries34: 66; Rogers ). DeVries wanted to continue to talking about their problems, but Rogers wanted to have sex.(DeVreis 34: 66; Rogers 34:153). DeVries declined, saying she was not in the mood.(DeBries 34:67; Rogers 34:153).

The parties stories diverge as to what happened next. According to DeVries, sometime after midnight, Rogers came out of the bedroom and talked nicely to her saying he wanted her to come into the bedroom.(34:67). She went in an sat on the bed and he lay down.(34:67, 87). They were just talking when Rogers jokingly made a comment, "I can take it but that wouldn't be very pleasant for you."(34:67-68). They started wrestling and he started touching her.(Id:68). She said, "No."(Id.). DeVries testified that Rogers, eventually penned her face down on the bed, pulled her pants down and said,"Either I am going to put it in your pussy or put it in your butt."(Id). DeVries begged him to stop but he put his penis in her anus, yelling, "I did not have sex with Kaitlin."(Id).

2

The parties disagree about how long DeVries was gone. DeVries claimed she was away about two hours (34:82); Rogers testified it was six to eight hours.(34:151).

According to DeVries, she told Rogers he was going to kill her because she could not breathe. (34:69) He had one hand on her mouth and he kept smothering her into the pillows and blankets that were bunched up in the corner of the bed.(Id.). She was screaming loudly. (Id).

DeVries claimed that afterwards, Rogers cried saying he did not want to go to prison and begged her not to tell anyone.(34:70). DeVries said he would not let her leave the bedroom.(Id.). She finally was allowed to leave the bedroom to smoke a cigarette.(34:71).

DeVries testified that she left the apartment and went to knock on the neighbor's wall unsuccessfully trying to get his attention.(Id).

She went into the bathroom and noticed that she was bleeding from her anus.(Id.). She ended up sleeping on the couch.(34:72).

She sent a text message to her cousin Adena at about 3:15 a.m.(Id).

Rogers left the apartment in the morning.(34:73).

DeVries denied that Rogers threatened to kill her that night.(34:93). She admitted that Rogers had told her that he was thinking of leaving the relationship.(34:81) She claimed she wanted to leave as well.(Id.).

Rogers account differed. According to Rogers, on the afternoon of February 24<sup>th</sup>, Andrea told him she did not want him to leave the relationship and made threats if he did and then took off.(34:151). After she returned home there was some more arguing and then they started texting.(34:151). Rogers denied he ever went into the

hallway to coax DeVries into the bedroom. (34:153).

At one point Rogers texted DeVries asking her to come into the bedroom; when she said no, he texted, "Goodnight." (34:154). About 15 or 20 minutes later she came into the bedroom. (Id.). He was half asleep when she came into the bedroom and sat on the bed. (Id.). The two talked and cried then started making out. (34:154-55). They began to have anal sex - which was not the first time -but it hurt her and she said stop; he stopped immediately. (34:155). They engaged for a very short time in vaginal sex but she was not comfortable so they stopped. (34:165).

They smoked a cigarette together then DeVries went to take a bath.(34:155.) Rogers noticed that she was bleeding from her anus and apologized for hurting her.(Id.) He kissed her goodnight.(34:156).

One of their children woke up and DeVries attended to him.(34:156). Rogers fell asleep in the bedroom; when he awoke at about 10:00 in the morning DeVries was asleep on the couch. (Id.) He ate his breakfast, kissed her good-bye and left.(34:160). He did not know that anything was amiss until he went to the bank and found that all of the money in their joint account had been withdrawn.(Id.) Shortly thereafter, he was taken in for questioning.(34:161).

Rogers denied ever saying he was going to kill DeVries, ever grabbing her or putting his hand over her mouth.(34:157). He never told her would take it from her if she did not voluntarily give it to him.(34:158).

Adena Sparks testified that her cellphone received a text from DeVries at 3 am the morning of February 25, 2010, saying,

Adena never in my life have I ever needed sum1 more than rite now plz call me its horrible

(Sparks 34: 100; 16: Exhibit 1).

Sparks called DeVries at 8:00 am and DeVries sounded scared. (34:100). Sparks, who lives three-and one-half-hours away offered to come and pick DeVries up.(34:101).

Amanda Gallert testified that DeVries arrived at her house about 10:00 p.m. and spend a two to three hours there on the night of February 24<sup>th</sup>.(34: 106,107). The next day, DeVries contacted Gallert at about 10:00 a.m.; she was crying and told Gallert something bad happened.(34:105, 108). She told Gallert that Rogers raped her. (34:105). DeVries drove to Gallert's apartment and Gallert encouraged DeVries to call DeVries's mother.(34:105). Gallert and DeVries met DeVries's mother at DeVries's grandmother's house, where they left the children and went to the hospital.(34:106).

Marie DeVries also testified that she met DeVries and Gallert at Marie's parents' home and then they went to the hospital.(34:112). According to Marie, DeVries was shaking, crying and very upset.(34:113). She was unable to sit down.(Id.)

Linda Sparks, the Riverview Hospital nurse testified that the SANE exam revealed that DeVries had redness around her anal opening, consistent with anal sex.(34:115, 116) She also said DeVries has some bruises but there was no testimony as to where the

#### bruises were located.(34:116).<sup>3</sup>

#### Sparks testified as to what DeVries told her.

Q. She indicates on 23 hours on 2/24, 2010, they were arguing about having sex with a friend of hers. She left and went to Amanda's house?

A. Um-hum.

Q. He was texting messages to her. Came back to house, he came to couch where she was sitting?

A. Um-hum.

Q. She then got up and went to bed...It says she then got up and went to bed. He pushed her down on bed?

A. Um-hum.

\*\*\*

Q. He left with her -

A. Car.

Q. Five to ten minutes later, came back and said meaning the perpetrator, said I'm going to take your life?

A. Um-hum.

Q. That is what she told you?

A. Yes.

(Sparks 34: 118-119).

3

Indeed, the jury, during deliberations, asked, "Where did the nurse see bruising on Andrea?" (34:218). The court discussed the possible answer with counsel and noted,"That was just left open that there was bruising on the alleged victim in this matter, but no clarification as to where those bruises were." (Id.). The state agreed." I think we have to go with the answer she gave, and she just stated bruising. (34:219).

Detective Julie Brueger testified that she interviewed DeVries at Riverview Hospital in the afternoon of February 25, 2010.(34:123, 134). DeVries's voice was quivering, her hands were shaking and she was crying intermittently.(34:123). DeVries reported that she had been sexually assaulted by Rogers.(Id.).

Brueger talked with Rogers that same day.(Id.). Rogers told Brueger that DeVries had gone to Amanda's house and she got back about 11:00 or 11:30 p.m.(34:124). They had an argument about Rogers cheating on DeVries and DeVries was going to sleep on the couch; he was going to sleep in the bedroom.(34:124, 129). He told Brueger that Andrea came into the bedroom and he apologized for hurting her.(Id.) He began touching her.(Id).

He told Brueger that before DeVries came into the bedroom, they had been texting each other.(34:125). He wanted sex and she said she was not interested in sex.(Id.). After Andrea came into the bedroom, Rogers started kissing her and playing with her,(34:132). Eventually, they had anal sex because Andrea wanted to do something different.(34:133). However, after they started, she told him to stop because it hurt.(Id.). Rogers told Brueger he did stop.(Id).

He said they did have sex and he thought he might have hurt her because there was blood.(Id.) After sex, she went to the bathroom and then to attend one of the children.(34:126).

Brueger noted in her report that there were no signs of injury on DeVries's neck or throat when she interviewed her.(34: 134).

In the states case-in-chief, DeVries also testified that in June, Rogers came to her and asked her to lie about what happened and then he choked her to the point of being unconscious.(34:77). On rebuttal DeVries testified that Rogers choked her in June when he found out she had not lied for him.(34:171). However, she admitted on cross examination that she previously testified that Rogers did not ask her to lie.(34:173). DeVries claimed she lied under oath because she was afraid.(Id.)

Roger testified that he asked DeVries why she was lying about him.(34:166). He denied asking her to lie or choking her.(34:159).

The defenses chose to waive giving Wis JI-Criminal 275, cautioning the jury on the use of other acts evidence. (34:183).

#### **ARGUMENT**

The trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in admitting other crimes evidence?

#### A. Standard of Review

The standard of review for a trial court's admission of other acts evidence is whether the trial court properly exercised its discretion. See *State v. Pharr*, 115 Wis.2d 334, 342, 340 N.W.2d 498, 501 (1983).

B. The Sullivan framework for analyzing whether other act evidence is admissible.

State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis.2d 768, 772-73 576 N.W.2d 30(1998), sets out a framework for analyzing whether other acts evidence is admissible against a defendant.

First, the trial court must determine whether the other acts evidence is offered for an acceptable purpose such as motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. If so, the second step then requires the trial court to decide if the evidence is relevant. With respect to relevance, before the evidence can be admitted the trial court must find that the proffered evidence is both related to a fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action and that the evidence has probative value. If the trial court decides that the other acts evidence passes steps one and two, the trial court then must weigh whether the probative value of this evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

C. The trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in allowing evidence that Rogers choked DeVries in June, 2010.

1. The choking evidence was not admitted for a proper purpose.

First of all, it should be noted that there is no evidence that Rogers choked DeVries on February 25<sup>th</sup>. All DeVries said is that Rogers had one hand on her mouth and he kept smothering her into the pillows and blankets that were bunched up in the corner of the bed, as she was screaming loudly.(34:69). She said nothing about him placing his hands on her neck.

State's stated purpose for offering evidence that Rogers choked DeVries in June was

to show the Defendant's motive, that his intent, plan or absence of mistake or accident in that the Defendant perpetrated these acts all on the same victim, intimidating the victim, subjecting that victim to abuse and violating the conditions of his bond in prior cases.

(31:3).

The charge against Rogers was second degree sexual assault, one wonders how an alleged choking incident - a completely different incident- three months later could show his intent or plan in February, 2010. Further, there was no suggestion that Rogers claimed he sexually assaulted DeVries by mistake. He claimed the sex was consenual.

The court ruled that the evidence could come in for the purpose of showing that Rogers grabbed DeVries by the throat to get her to submit.(33:4). However, as pointed out above, DeVries did not claim Rogers grabbed her by the neck to get her to submit to the sexual assault. Indeed, the detective saw absolutely no evidence of injury to DeVries's neck later the same day.(34: 134).

Whitty v. State, 34 Wis.2d 278, 292, 149 N.W.2d 557 (1967), holds that other acts evidence may not be use to show a defendant has a propensity to commit similar acts.

The character rule excluding prior crimes evidence as it relates to the guilt issue rests on four bases: (1) The overstrong tendency to believe the defendant guilty of the charge merely because he is a person likely to do such acts; (2) the tendency to condemn not because he is believed guilty of the present charge but because he has escaped punishment from other offenses; (3) the injustice of attacking one who is not prepared to demonstrate the attacking evidence is fabricated, and (4)

the confusion of issues which might result from bringing in evidence of other crimes

This *Whitty* holding has been reaffirmed by the supreme court in *Sullivan*, 216 Wis.2d at 783.

The other acts evidence that Rogers allegedly choked DeVries to unconsciousness in June, came in only to show that Rogers was a bad guy who used violence against DeVries. Following *Whitty*, *Sullivan* makes clear that kind of evidence of propensity for committing alleged acts is exactly the type of other acts evidence that may not be admitted.

## 2. The choking evidence was irrelevant.

Under Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 904.01, relevance has two facets. The first consideration in assessing relevance is whether the evidence relates to a fact or proposition that is of consequence to the determination of the action.

#### Sullivan, 216 Wis.2d at 785.

The "proponent of the evidence, here the State, must articulate the fact or proposition that the evidence is offered to prove." *Sullivan*, 216 Wis.2d 786.

The state argued, "..the Defendant perpetrated these acts all on the same victim, intimidating the victim, subjecting the victim to abuse and violating the conditions to his bond in the prior case." (31:3). It is not clear what the state was offering the evidence to prove, other than Rogers is a bad guy.

The court held that the evidence was relevant to Rogers intent - he uses grabbing DeVries throat to get

her to submit.(33:4). But, that evidence is completely irrelevant here, because DeVries did not say he grabbed her throat.

The second consideration in assessing relevance is probative value, that is, whether the evidence has a tendency to make a consequential fact more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.

The probative value of the other acts evidence in this case depends on the other incident's nearness in time, place and circumstances to the alleged crime or to the fact or proposition sought to be proved.

#### Sullivan, 216 Wis.2d at 786.

Here, the choking incident was not probative. The time frame was several months apart and the circumstances of the alleged crimes were completely different.

3. The choking evidence was prejudicial.

A court should reach this issue only if the evidence has been shown to be admissible for a permissible purpose and is relevant. *Sullivan*, 216 Wis.2d 789. Nevertheless, even if the choking evidence had been admitted for a permissible purpose and was relevant, it was still unfairly prejudicial.

Unfair prejudice results when the proffered evidence has a tendency to influence the outcome by improper means or if it appeals to the jury's sympathies, arouses its sense of horror, provokes its instinct to punish or otherwise causes a jury to base its decision on something other than the established propositions in the case

**Sullivan**, 216 Wis.2d 789-90.

The state referred to the June "choking" incident in its opening (34:59), its closing(34:191) and it rebuttal argument(34:200-201). Further it elicited DeVries testimony about the alleged incident on both its case-inchief and its rebuttal case.(34:77, 171).

The evidence was repeatedly placed before the jury to arouse its horror at what a bad person Rogers is and to give the jury a sense that it should punish Rogers because he is the kind of person who chokes the mother of his children.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, Daniel K. Rogers asks this court to reverse his conviction and remand to the trial court for a new trial.