RECEIVED

06-27-2012

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2012AP186-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DANIEL K. ROGERS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN WOOD COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE TODD P. WOLF PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

MARGUERITE M. MOELLER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1017389

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-8556 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) moellermm@doj.state.wi.us

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did the trial court properly exercise its discretion in admitting evidence that four months after the charged sexual assault, Rogers choked the victim because she had not lied for him?

In finding the evidence admissible, the trial court implicitly said yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Because the single issue presented can be resolved by applying existing case law, the State does not request oral argument or publication of the court's opinion.

SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF FACTS

Facts additional to those set forth at pages 3-11 of Rogers' brief will be presented where necessary in the Argument section.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE THAT FOUR MONTHS AFTER THE CHARGED CRIME, ROGERS CHOKED THE VICTIM BECAUSE HE WAS ANGRY SHE HAD NOT LIED FOR HIM IN THIS CASE.

A. General principles and standard of review.

With respect to preserved claims of error, evidentiary rulings "are generally reviewed with deference to determine whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in accordance with the facts and accepted legal standards." *State v. Tucker*, 2003 WI 12, ¶ 28, 259 Wis. 2d 484, 657 N.W.2d 374.

"[S]imply because an act can be factually classified as 'different'—in time, place and, perhaps, manner than the act complained of—that different act is not necessarily 'other acts' evidence in the eyes of the law." *State v. Bauer*, 2000 WI App 206, ¶ 7 n.2, 238 Wis. 2d 687, 617 N.W.2d 902. Rather, as this court explained in *State v. Dukes*, 2007 WI App 175, 303 Wis. 2d 208, 736 N.W.2d 515.

Evidence is not "other acts" evidence if it is part of the panorama of evidence needed to completely describe the crime that occurred and is thereby inextricably intertwined with the crime.

Id. ¶ 28. Accord State v. Jensen, 2011 WI App 3, ¶ 85, 331 Wis. 2d 440, 794 N.W.2d 482 (evidence showing Jensen had left pornographic photos around the house to torture his wife was admissible as "'part of the panorama of evidence'" surrounding her murder because it "involved the relationship between the principal actors . . . and traveled directly to the State's theory as to why Jensen murdered [his wife]").

To be admissible as "other acts" evidence, proffered evidence must pass a three-part test:

- (1) The evidence must be offered for an admissible purpose under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2) that does not depend on a prohibited "propensity" inference of the defendant's character to commit the charged crimes. *See State v. Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 772, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). Because "[t]he purposes for which other-acts evidence may be admitted are 'almost infinite[,]" satisfying this first step "is not demanding." *State v. Marinez*, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 25, 331 Wis. 2d 568, 797 N.W.2d 399.
- (2) The evidence also must be relevant, meaning it must be "of consequence to the determination of the action" and must have "a tendency to make the consequential fact or proposition more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772.
- (3) Finally, the probative value of the other-acts evidence must not be "substantially outweighed" by the considerations set forth in Wis. Stat. § 904.03, which includes "the danger of unfair prejudice." *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772-73.

Admission of other-acts evidence is deferentially reviewed for an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d at 780-81. If the trial court fails to adequately set forth its reasoning, the appellate court "independently review[s] the record to determine whether it provides a basis for the circuit court's exercise of discretion." *Id.* at 781.

"The question on review is not whether [the appellate] court would have allowed admission of the evidence in question." *State v. Kimberly B.*, 2005 WI App 115, ¶ 38, 283 Wis. 2d 731, 699 N.W.2d 641 (citation omitted). Rather, "[t]he circuit court's decision will be upheld 'unless it can be said that no reasonable judge, acting on the same facts and underlying law, could reach the same conclusion." *State v. Payano*, 2009 WI 86, ¶ 51, 320 Wis. 2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832 (citation omitted).

Regardless of whether the evidence being challenged on appeal was part of the panorama of evidence needed to fully understand the crime, or whether it is treated as other-acts evidence, the State will show below why the trial court properly exercised its discretion in admitting the evidence.

B. Evidence that four months after the charged sexual assault, Rogers choked the victim into unconsciousness because she had not lied for him in this case is part of the panorama of evidence.

Although the prosecutor, defense counsel and the trial court treated evidence of the June 15, 2010 incident involving Rogers and the victim as other-acts evidence (see 13:2; 14:2; 33:3-6), the State submits this event is part of the panorama of the evidence relevant to show Rogers' guilt of the charged crime. Support for this view comes from *State v. Neuser*, 191 Wis. 2d 131, 528 N.W.2d 49 (Ct. App. 1995).

Neuser, who was accused of stabbing his girlfriend in the arm, telephoned a threat to her shortly before trial. *Id.* at 144. This court rejected Neuser's contention that the threat was evidence of other acts pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 904.04. Instead, this court found the threat constituted "admissible evidence of Neuser's consciousness of guilt." *Id.* In doing so, the court acknowledged that the evidence posed "substantial prejudice to Neuser." *Id.* at 145 (footnote omitted).

Long before *Neuser*, our supreme court in *Price v. State*, 37 Wis. 2d 117, 154 N.W.2d 222 (1967), upheld the admission of evidence that Price had said to a witness shortly before trial, "If it takes me thirty years, I will kill you." *Id.* at 130. After citing several evidence treatises for the proposition that "[t]he attempt to hinder or threaten a witness to a crime is an occurrence that has relatively high probative value" (*id.* at 132), the court explained why evidence of Price's threat was admissible at his burglary trial:

The threat was made only shortly before the testimony of Rogers, and it would appear to be directly related to the fact that Rogers was about to testify against him. It was not evidence of general bad character; it was evidence directly related to the crime charged. It was an occurrence that tended to show Price's attempt to suppress evidence of his guilt and was therefore of probative value.

Price, 37 Wis. 2d at 133.

Here the victim testified that in June – i.e., just four months after the charged sexual assault – Rogers asked her to lie about the earlier incident (34:77) and choked her when he found out she hadn't lied for him (*id.*:171). This evidence, like the threat evidence in *Neuser* and *Price*, was admissible to show Rogers' consciousness of guilt. As such, the choking incident was part of the panorama of evidence and was not truly "other acts" evidence, the parties' treatment of it notwithstanding. Evidence of the June incident was also panorama evidence because it

showed the relationship of the principal actors, just lithe evidence of the pornographic photos in *Jensen*, 331 Wis. 2d 440, ¶ 85, helped illuminate the relationship between Jensen and his deceased wife.

Because evidence of the choking incident was not "other acts," its admissibility is analyzed only under Wis. Stat. §§ 904.01 and 904.03. Under *Neuser* and *Price*, evidence that Rogers choked the victim four months after the assault because he wanted her to lie about it is undeniably relevant. And while the evidence was surely prejudicial, it was not unfairly so. *See Neuser*, 191 Wis. 2d at 144-45 & n.2. In this regard, it is noteworthy that the trial court offered to give a cautionary instruction telling the jury to consider the evidence only for consciousness of guilt (34:142-43), but Rogers declined the court's invitation on two occasions (*id*.:143, 183). Such an instruction would have lessened the prejudicial effect of the evidence, but Rogers decided as a strategic matter to forego such an instruction.

For all these reasons, this court should find that under §§ 904.01 and 904.03, the trial court properly admitted evidence of the June 2010 choking incident.

C. Alternatively, the evidence was admissible "other acts" evidence under § 904.04(2).

Assuming this court finds that the evidence of the choking incident must be analyzed as "other acts" evidence, it easily passes muster under the three-part *Sullivan* test set forth in section A. above.

As the supreme court acknowledged in *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 25, the first step in the *Sullivan* analysis – showing that the evidence is admissible for a permissible purpose – is not demanding. That is certainly the situation here.

While Rogers apparently believes that this court in its analysis is limited to the purpose for which the prosecutor wished to introduce the evidence, and for which the circuit court received it, that belief is misguided. It is well settled that when reviewing a circuit court's decision admitting other-acts evidence, the appellate court can consider acceptable purposes for the evidence that the circuit court did not contemplate and may affirm the lower court's decision for reasons not stated by the circuit court. *State v. Hunt*, 2003 WI 81, ¶ 52, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771.

Here, evidence of the choking incident was relevant to show Rogers' consciousness of guilt in the charged offense. Proof that he choked the victim because she had not lied for him was relevant to show he wanted her to lie for him in his upcoming trial, which in turn was circumstantial evidence of his guilt on the underlying charge. That this is a proper reason for admitting the evidence is clear from *State v. Bettinger*, 100 Wis. 2d 691, 697-98, 303 N.W.2d 585 (1981), and from *Price* and *Neuser*, both of which are discussed in section B. above.

This is not to say the evidence was not admissible for the purpose the trial court identified, i.e., to show that Rogers used suffocation/choking to get the victim to submit to his demands (see 33:4). With respect to the charged crime, the victim told nurse Linda Stankey (34:115) that Rogers "[w]as trying to suffocate [her] with his hands" (id.:121). At trial, the victim testified that Rogers "had me down by the leg up around my neck" (id.:68) and "kept smothering" her into the pillows and blankets (id.:69). In the June 2010 incident, Rogers choked her until she lost consciousness (id.:77). Rogers therefore used a similar method to cause the victim to submit to his demand that she lie for him as he had used to cause her to submit to his desire for anal intercourse four months earlier. The choking incident was therefore admissible to show Rogers' method for obtaining compliance with his demands as well as to show consciousness of guilt.

Finally, the choking incident was admissible for the proper purpose of showing the relationship between Rogers and his girlfriend. *See State v. Shillcutt*, 116 Wis. 2d 227, 237-38, 341 N.W.2d 716 (Ct. App. 1983), *aff'd on other grounds*, 119 Wis. 2d 788, 350 N.W.2d 686 (1984).

The evidence easily passes the first step of the *Sullivan* analysis.

Because the choking evidence was relevant to show Rogers' consciousness of guilt on the charge of sexual assault, it necessarily clears the second *Sullivan* hurdle, i.e., that the evidence was "of consequence to the determination of the action" and had "a tendency to make the consequential fact or proposition more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 772.

As for *Sullivan*'s third step, Rogers bears the burden of proving that the probative value of the otheracts evidence is substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. *See Hunt*, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 53. This court should find he has failed to satisfy this burden. Here, the trial court was willing to give a limiting instruction regarding the evidence, but Rogers twice declined that offer (34:143, 183). And while the evidence was certainly prejudicial, it was not unfairly so. *See Neuser*, 191 Wis. 2d at 144-45 & n.2. Because Rogers knew in advance of trial that the evidence was forthcoming, he was prepared to and did testify that the victim denied the June incident at a preliminary hearing (134:159).

Under these circumstances, this court should find that the trial court properly found the evidence satisfied the third step of *Sullivan*.

CONCLUSION

For all of the above reasons, this court should affirm the judgment of the circuit court.